
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

 

Cabinet  
8 September 2021 

 
Time 
 

5.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Executive 

Venue 
 

Council Chamber - 4th Floor - Civic Centre, St Peter’s Square, Wolverhampton, 
WV1 1SH 

 

Membership 
 

Chair Cllr Ian Brookfield (Lab) 
Vice-Chair        Cllr Stephen Simkins (Lab) 
 

Labour   

Cllr Obaida Ahmed 
Cllr Paula Brookfield 
Cllr Steve Evans 
Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal 
Cllr Dr Michael Hardacre 
Cllr Jasbir Jaspal 
Cllr Linda Leach 
Cllr Beverley Momenabadi 
 

  

Quorum for this meeting is three voting members. 
 

Information for the Public 
 

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team: 

Contact Dereck Francis 
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 555835 or dereck.francis@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square, 

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 
  
Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk 

Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  

Tel 01902 550320 

 

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording, and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room. 
 
Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 
 

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

Agenda 
 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 
Item No. Title 

 
MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS 
 

1 Apologies for absence 
 

2 Declaration of interests  
  

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 12) 
 [For approval] 

 

4 Matters arising  
 [To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting] 

 

DECISION ITEMS (AMBER - DELEGATED TO THE CABINET) 
 
5 Local Government Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) Report (Pages 13 - 20) 
 [To consider the findings of the Local Government Social Care Ombudsman 

Report] 
 

6 Severn Trent's Commonwealth Legacy Forest (Pages 21 - 26) 
 [To seek approval to plant sites as part of the Commonwealth Legacy Forest, 

sponsored by Severn Trent Water] 
 

7 Revised Affordable Rents Policy for all New Build Wolverhampton Council 
Housing (Pages 27 - 30) 

 [To approve the revised Affordable Rents Policy for all New Build Wolverhampton 
Council Housing] 
 

8 Help to Own Scheme Update and Governance  
 [To receive an update on the Help to Own scheme and on a proposed governance 

structure and approvals process] [Report to follow] 
 



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
Minutes - 28 July 2021 

 

Attendance 
 

Members of the Cabinet 
 

Cllr Ian Brookfield (Chair) 
Cllr Stephen Simkins (Vice-Chair) 
Cllr Obaida Ahmed 
Cllr Paula Brookfield 
Cllr Steve Evans 
Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal 
Cllr Dr Michael Hardacre 
Cllr Jasbir Jaspal 
Cllr Linda Leach 
Cllr Beverley Momenabadi 
 

Employees  

Tim Johnson Chief Executive 
Mark Taylor Deputy Chief Executive 
Emma Bennett Executive Director of Families 
Ross Cook Director of City Housing and Environment 
Charlotte Johns Director of Strategy 
Richard Lawrence Director of Regeneration 
Claire Nye Director of Finance 
Laura Phillips Deputy Director of People and Change 
Tracey Christie Head of Legal Services 
Lynsey Kelly Head of Community Safety 
Neeraj Malhotra Consultant in Public Health 
Jaswinder Kaur Democratic Services Manager 
Dereck Francis Democratic Services Officer 

 

 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 

Item No. Title 

1 Apologies for absence 
No apologies for absence were received for the meeting. 
 

2 Declaration of interests 
No declarations of interests were made. 
 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting 
Resolved: 

That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 7 July 2021 be approved as 
a correct record and signed by the Chair.  

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

4 Matters arising 
There were no matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

5 Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021 
Councillor Jasbir Jaspal introduced the Director of Public Health Annual Report 
2020-2021. She said the Annual Report commemorated the horrendous year of the 
Covid-19 and celebrated the work that had gone on to fight the pandemic. It thanked 
the many organisations, services, teams and volunteers across the Council and the 
city, coming together working to fight the pandemic.  It had left some lasting physical, 
mental, social and economic impacts on the city’s population and through the 
strengthened partnerships and coordinated efforts would relight the city in setting 
priorities on  mental health and wellbeing, physical activity, housing particularly 
variation in the quality of the city’s private rental sector and influencing access to and 
the quality of healthcare in  the city going forward.  
 
Lynsey Kelly, Head of Communities (Public Health) and Neeraj Malhotra, Consultant 
in Public Health endorsed the summary from Councillor Jaspal, particularly the 
collective effort in responding to Covid and making use of the way we worked 
together in partnership, as a springboard to address other inequalities in health and 
the lasting impacts of Covid on the city’s population.  
 
Cabinet placed on record its heartfelt thanks to everyone involved in the massive 
team effort of the city’s response to the pandemic, through the support, guidance or 
advice they gave to the city’s residents and businesses. 
  
Resolved: 

That the publication of the Director of Public Health Annual Report for the 
period 2020 – 2021 be approved. 

 
6 Brewers Yard (Phase 1) Culwell Street Site 

Councillor Steve Evans presented the report on a proposal seeking approval to the 
creation of appropriate capital budgets to fund a scheme which would unlock housing 
development and remediate brownfield land as part of the Brewers Yard masterplan, 
proposed to deliver up to 1300 new homes.  The first phase of the scheme involved 
relocating existing users at the Culwell Street site (Fleet Services and Meals on 
Wheels Service) to a reconfigured Wholesale Market site, followed by demolition of 
buildings and remediation of brownfield land. The relocation of Fleet Services would 
also deliver a modernised electric fleet depot, fit for purpose and a step towards 
supporting an electric fleet to be procured as a separate council investment. The 
project would also offer a significant impact in addressing the carbon reduction 
challenge that aligned to West Midlands Combined Authority and the Council’s 
targets. 
 
Resolved: 
That Council be recommended to approve: 

 
1. The creation of appropriate capital budgets funded, through grant and 

prudential borrowing as detailed within the exempt report, subject to 
confirmation of successful grant bids. 

 
 

 
Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

That Cabinet approves: 
 
1. The relocation of Fleet Services operations and ‘Meals on Wheels’ to a new 

facility at the Council owned ‘Wholesale Market’ Site, to continue providing 
existing requirements and enable the provision for a new electric fleet.  
 

2. The reconfiguration of the ‘Wholesale Market’ site to cater for the current 
wholesale market activities and the new fleet services operations, bringing 
about an improved and efficient use of Council facilities and decarbonisation 
of its buildings programme. 
 

3. The site clearance and land remediation of the Culwell Street site and its 
allocation for disposal with vacant possession for residential development, 
subject to outline planning consent. 
 

4. Delegated authority to the Cabinet Member for City Environment and Climate 
Change and the Leader of the Council, in consultation with the Director for 
City Housing and Environment and the Director of Finance to agree and enter 
into the required funding agreements, for the respective funding applications 
as detailed in the report. 

 
7 Performance, Budget Monitoring and Budget Update 2021-2022 

Councillor Ian Brookfield outlined the key points from the integrated finance and 
performance update report against the Council’s Relighting Our City recovery 
priorities, and the Medium Term Financial Strategy. The report also included the draft 
budget strategy for 2022-2023, with reference to current information about the in-
year budget monitoring. Councillor Ian Brookfield reported that the overriding 
message from the report was that the Council’s finances are run well. This had been 
achieved against a backdrop of the Council making £¼ billion of savings during the 
years of austerity. There would be difficult times ahead for the city, including dealing 
with long lasting and damaging effects from the Covid pandemic. The Council’s 
finances would continue to be managed well, but it would be helpful to the Council if 
there was stability in local government finances with the government making two or 
three years financial settlements. He also suggested that the Council needed a 
recognition of the 18 months it had gone through.   
 
Resolved: 

1. That the ongoing delivery of the Relighting Our City recovery priorities, 
including aligning our resources and activity to continue to improve 
performance and outcomes be endorsed. 

 
2. That the draft budget strategy for 2022-2023 be approved. 

 
3. That the use of £817,000 from the Transformation Reserve to fund various 

transformation work as detailed in paragraph 11.3 of the report be approved. 
 

4. That 31 virements totalling £7.4 million, for transfers within directorates, as 
detailed in Appendix 5 to the report be approved. 

 
5. That the write-off of one Housing debt totalling £6,419.73 as detailed in 

Appendix 6 to the report be approved.  
 

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

6. That any underspends identified in 2021-2022 are transferred to a specific 
reserve to support the 2022-2023 Budget Strategy and reduce the level of 
capital receipts to pay for revenue transformation.  

 
7. That the establishment of supplementary expenditure budgets within 2021-

2022 approved budget as detailed in Section 10 of the report for grant funded 
expenditure be approved.  

 
8. That authority be delegated to the Director of Public Health and Wellbeing to 

allocate grants from the Better Mental Health Fund in line with the conditions 
of grant.   

 
9. That it be noted that early indications are the outturn for 2021-2022 general 

fund would be within budget. 
 

10. That it be noted that early indications are the outturn for 2021-2022 Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) would be within budget.  

 
11. That it be noted that alongside preparation for the 2022-2023 budget, work 

would continue to identify measures which would provide a sustainable 
medium term strategy.  

 
12. That it be noted that 14 Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) debts totalling 

£137,382.83, as detailed in Appendix 6 to the report, have been approved for 
write-off by the Director of Finance in accordance with the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules.  

 
13. That it be noted that 592 council tax accounts totalling £188,150.96, as 

detailed in Appendix 6 to the report, have been approved for write-off by the 
Director of Finance in accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules.  

 
14. That it be noted that 16 housing benefit overpayments totalling £5,232.34 as 

detailed in Appendix 6 to the report, have been approved for write-off by the 
Director of Finance in accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules.  

 
15. That it be noted that 55 sundry debt accounts totalling £14,857.47, as 

detailed in Appendix 6 to the report, have been approved for write-off by the 
Director of Finance in accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules.  

 
16. The ongoing work to integrate finance and performance information which 

would continue to be developed, reporting to Cabinet (Resources) Panel / 

Cabinet on a quarterly basis be noted.  

 
8 Climate Change - 2028 Net Zero Action Plan Approvals 

Councillor Steve Evans presented the report on progress made by the Council 
towards its Climate Emergency objectives made in July 2019 and Climate 
Emergency Declaration to be net zero carbon across its activities by 2028. Actions 
towards the ambitions included, the Council switching to a renewable electricity 
provider, replacing over 10,000 streetlight units with LED (Light Emitting Diode) 
lighting under the Streetlight Replacement Programme, and reduced energy Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

consumption across the Council’s buildings, to name a few. He also presented, for 
approval, an 84 point action plan to achieve the Council’s Climate Emergency 
Declaration by 2028.  
 
Resolved: 

1. That the proposed Climate Change actions to achieve the Council’s 2028 net 
zero ambitions be fully endorsed and the development of the next stage, a 
costed Roadmap be endorsed. 

 
2. That ownership of the actions be delegated to the respective Cabinet Portfolio 

Holders and Directors for delivery. 
 

3. That the use of the existing fleet capital budget to purchase electric vehicles 
and supporting infrastructure to meet needs identified on the fleet priority list, 
to support short-term fleet electrification plans be approved. 

 
4. That the use of the Climate Change reserve to fund the short-term resource 

requirements identified in the action plan as set out in paragraph 7.6 of the 
report be approved. 

 
5. That the use of the Climate Change reserve to fund development works for 

the depot relocation plans and the heat network feasibility study as set out in 
paragraph 7.7 of the report be approved.   

 
6. That it be noted that development of the city-wide 2041 action plan would be 

carried out over summer 2021 through a series of internal and external 
stakeholder workshops, to agree objectives. This would include working 
directly with the Wolverhampton Anchor Network to formalise a city-wide 
delivery plan/roadmap. As such the 2041 actions have been omitted from the 
report.  

 
7. That it be noted that the actions laid out within the report relating to the 2028 

net zero target are not explicit or binding, and the action plan may change, 
subject to periodic reviews and development of feasibility studies. 

 
8. That it be noted that there is a further anticipated budget / resource 

requirement to deliver the proposed actions, subject to development of the 
roadmap and future business case.  

 
9. That the proposed governance structure as detailed in Appendix 5 to the 

report be noted, and that it would be subject to change as the programme 
develops.  

 
9 Adoption of Black Country Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Strategy 

The intention to make a key decision on the report ‘Adoption of Black Country Ultra-
Low Emission Vehicle Strategy’ at the meeting was not published in advance as 
required by the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012.  The decision was urgent and could not be 
reasonably delayed for the following reasons:  
 

 The report was omitted from the Forward Plan due to a technical error. The 
report is related to a funding bid due for submission at the end of July, and as 
such cannot be delayed until the next Cabinet. Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

In light of the above, consent had been obtained for the key decision to be made at 
the meeting under the General Exception provisions.  
 
Councillor Steve Evans presented for adoption, the Black Country Ultra Low 
Emissions Vehicle (ULEV) Strategy.  The report and implementation plan set out a 
range of targets for infrastructure and suggested policy changes to support and 
accelerate the electrification of the vehicle parc in the Black Country, in order to 
reduce the transport derived C02e emissions for the region. Delegated authority was 
also requested to accept grant funding from the Office for Zero Emission Vehicles, to 
enter into grant funding agreements and to establish appropriate supplementary 
budgets, if an On-street Residential Chargepoint Scheme bid is successful.  The bid 
aimed to deliver the installation of 50 chargepoint sites across the city. 
 
Resolved: 

1. That the final draft of the ‘Black Country Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle Strategy’ 
including the 2021 Advisory Note be approved. 

 
2. That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for City Environment and 

Climate Change and the Leader of the Council in consultation with the 
Director of City Housing and Environment and the Director of Finance to: 
a. Accept the grant funding from the Office for Zero Emission Vehicles 

(OZEV) and enter into the grant funding agreement if the On-street 
Residential Chargepoint Scheme (ORCS) bid is successful. 

b. Create the appropriate supplementary budgets. 
c. Approve future delivery of chargepoint infrastructure in line with the 

targets identified in the Black Country Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle 
(ULEV) Strategy 

  
3. That it be noted that the strategy was subject to a public consultation in 

August-October 2020, receiving 851 responses, with less than 20% believing 
the infrastructure targets were too ambitious, and less than 30% believing the 
emissions targets were too ambitious (35% of responses viewed the 
emissions targets as not being ambitious enough). 

 
4. That it be noted that any installations would be subject to public consultation 

with residents and business in the immediate vicinity of each location. 
 

5. That it be noted that the ORCS bid is due for submission to OZEV at the end 
of July 2021, and they predict a six-week turnaround for responses.  

 
10 Principal Social Worker Annual Report 2020-2021 

Councillors Linda Leach and Beverley Momenabadi reported on some of the key 
points from the Principal Social Worker Annual Report 2020-2021. The Annual 
Report highlighted progress made against key priorities carried out by the Principal 
Social Worker for adults and children’s services, including the work carried out to 
support social workers.  The report also outlined key priorities for 2021-2022.   
 
The value of the work of the Principal Social Worker in the Education and Skills 
service, aswell as the quality of partnership working between the various elements 
that the Local Authority is responsible for in social work were acknowledged by 
Cabinet.   
 

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

Jennifer Rogers, Principal Social Worker said that although it was her Annual Report 
about what she and her team had delivered and the impact, she wanted to say how 
proud she was of social workers in Wolverhampton and the social work profession.  
She was pleased that the report had received such positive responses because it 
was testament to how hard social workers had worked during the pandemic to try 
and make a difference to children, families and adults across the city.  
 
Resolved: 

1. That the work of the Principal Social Worker and the continued impact it has 
on social work practice across Children’s and Adult Services be endorsed. 

 
2. That the main priorities for the Principal Social Worker identified for 2021-2022 

be endorsed. 
 

3. That the work carried out in respect of: Care Act easements; audit activity, 
which has highlighted continued strong performance and practice during 
Covid; and the continued commitment to supporting social work students and 
routes into social work which is ensuring the Council is able to meet demand 
and supply needs now and for the future be noted. 

 
11 Education Excellence Strategy (EES) 2021 - 2024 

Councillor Dr Michael Hardacre informed Cabinet that the Education Excellence 
Strategy 2021-2024 had been taken to the Children, Young People and Families 
Scrutiny Panel for pre-decision scrutiny and was not therefore subject to scrutiny call-
in under the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 
 
The Strategy, which replaced the School Improvement Strategy 2018-2021, aimed to 
drive further improvements in Wolverhampton’s schools and early years settings. It 
made provision for the Council to carry out its functions to monitor the performance 
of schools in the city and ensure that, where improvements are necessary, these are 
carried out effectively and expeditiously.  In reporting on the salient points of the 
Strategy, Councillor Dr Hardacre highlighted that previous iterations of the Strategy 
had led to positives impacts on pupil outcomes, with Wolverhampton now at national 
standards with 86% of its schools rated Good or Outstanding by Ofsted. He also 
reported that the last 18 months had been incredibly challenging for schools, 
particularly the children with disruptions to their education.  The Education service 
through its relations with schools was already working with the city’s schools to 
ensure that the effects of this disruption are minimised. The Strategy was key in how 
the service would work with educational providers right across the sector. He also 
informed Cabinet that in future an annual report would be produced on the impact of 
the Strategy. 
 
Cabinet members welcomed the Strategy that spoke to the Council’s number one 
priority, to give children in the city the best start in life. They also commended all 
those involved in its development and welcomed the challenge and endorsement of 
the Strategy from the scrutiny panel. 
 
Resolved: 

That the Education Excellence Strategy 2021-2024 be approved and its use 
from September 2021 be endorsed. 

 
 

Page 9



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

12 Determined Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary Controlled 
Schools 2021-2022 and 2022-2023 
Councillor Dr Michael Hardacre presented the report on a proposed variation to the 
Local Authority’s Admission Arrangements for 2021-2022 and 2022-2023 to include a 
priority criterion for children previously in state care outside of England, in order to 
comply with a new mandatory provision of The School Admissions Code 2021. 
 
Resolved: 

1. That the variation to the admission arrangements for 2021-2022 and 2022-
2023 to include a priority criterion for children previously in state care outside 
of England, in order to comply with a new mandatory provision of The School 
Admissions Code 2021 be approved.  

 
2. That the admission arrangements for 2021-2022 and 2022-2023 to 

incorporate the variation be approved. 
 

13 Exclusion of press and public 
Resolved: 

That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information).  

 

Part 2 - exempt items, closed to press and public 

 

The Chair reported that as stated previously the meeting was in confidential session 
as the information included in the reports could, if released into the public domain, 
prejudice the financial position of the Council or its partners.  As such all present are 
under a legal duty of confidentiality and must not disclose any confidential 
information - to do so would not only be a breach of the Council's codes (for 
councillors and employees) but also a breach of the legal duty of confidentiality. 
 

14 Canalside South - Delivery Strategy update 
Councillor Stephen Simkins presented the update report on the delivery strategy for 
Canalside South, one of the Council's key priorities for residential-led mixed use 
regeneration. Delegate authority was requested to finalise a revised Collaboration 
Agreement between the Council and the Canal and River Trust and to take shared 
landholdings to the market to attract a development partner for the scheme.  
 
Resolved: 

1. That the strategy and approach to bringing Canalside South to the market to 
seek a development partner to deliver this transformation development 
opportunity be approved.  

 
2. That authority be delegated to the Deputy Leader: Inclusive City Economy and 

the Leader of the Council, in consultation with the Director of Regeneration 
and Director of Finance, to enter into the revised Collaboration Agreement 
with Canal & River Trust to enable the joint marketing of landholdings in 
support of the delivery of Canalside South.  

 

Page 10



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

3. That authority be delegated to the Director of Governance for the execution of 
any legal agreements ensuing from the marketing process and eventual 
developer selection.   

 
4. That the proposal to declare the Council’s landholdings at Canalside South as 

surplus in preparation for the marketing of the sites be approved.  
 

5. That the revenue budget allocation assigned to support costs associated with 
bringing forward a scheme of this scale be noted. 

 
6. That it be noted that an update would be brought to Cabinet once the 

marketing process has been concluded to ratify the outcome of the marketing 
exercise, the preferred delivery approach and development partner(s).  

 
15 Brewers Yard (Phase 1) Culwell Street Site 

Councillor Steve Evans informed Cabinet that the report, Brewers Yard (Phase 1) 
Culwell Street Site was similar in content to the report discussed at item 6 above, but 
the exempt report contained information that could, if released into the public 
domain, prejudice the financial position of the Council or its partners. 
 
Resolved: 
That Council be recommended to approve: 

 
1. The creation of appropriate capital budgets funded, through grant and 

prudential borrowing as detailed within the report, subject to confirmation of 
successful grant bids. 

 
That Cabinet approves: 

 
1. The relocation of Fleet Services operations and ‘Meals on Wheels’ to a new 

facility at the Council owned ‘Wholesale Market’ Site, to continue providing 
existing requirements and enable the provision for a new electric fleet.  

 
2. The reconfiguration of the ‘Wholesale Market’ site to cater for the current 

wholesale market activities and the new fleet services operations, bringing 
about an improved and efficient use of Council facilities and decarbonisation 
of its buildings programme. 
 

3. The site clearance and land remediation of the Culwell Street site and its 
allocation for disposal with vacant possession for residential development, 
subject to outline planning consent. 
 

4. Delegated authority to the Cabinet Member for City Environment and Climate 
Change and the Leader of the Council, in consultation with the Director for 
City Housing and Environment and the Director of Finance to agree and enter 
into the required funding agreements, for the respective funding applications 
as detailed in the report. 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 This report is PUBLIC  
 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

Cabinet  
8 September 2021 

 

Report title Local Government Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO) Report 

 Decision designation  AMBER 
 

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Beverley Momenabadi 
Children and Young People 

Key decision   Yes 
 

In forward plan Yes 
 

Wards affected All Wards 

Accountable Director Emma Bennett, Director of Children’s and Adult Services 
 

Originating service Children’s Social Care 

Accountable employee Mark Tobin Head of Service 
Tel 07970 266 496 
Email mark.tobina@adoptionaheart.co.uk 

 
Report to be/has been 
considered by 
 

Leadership Team 
Strategic Executive Board 
 

19 August 2021 
26 August 2021 
 

Recommendation for decision: 

The Cabinet is recommended to: 

1. Endorse the City of Wolverhampton Council (CWC) and the regional adoption agency 
service response to the Local Government Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) finding.  

  

Page 13

Agenda Item No: 5



 This report is PUBLIC  
 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
  

 

 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 To provide an overview of the circumstances of the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman’s (LGSCO) decision report for the CWC and the regional adoption agency, 
Case ID 19011134.  

1.2 To provide the proposed response from the Council / regional adoption agency to the 
required remedies within the LGSCO report. 

2.0 Background 

2.1  The LGSCO has issued a report following its investigation of a complaint against the 
CWC/regional adoption agency. The regional adoption agency provides adoption services 
for the Council, along with Sandwell, Walsall and Dudley. The service became operational 
in April 2019 and is hosted by Wolverhampton. Therefore, the finding is against CWC.  

2.2  The complaint was about an individual who made an enquiry about wishing to apply to 
adopt a child.  

2.3  The individual originally made an enquiry to Walsall Council prior to April 2019 and was 
subsequently transferred to the regional adoption agency when the service went live.  In 
May 2019, a Social Worker from the regional adoption agency undertook an initial 
assessment visit and the outcome of this was a decision not to invite the individual to 
proceed with the assessment process for adoption.   

2.4  The main reasons were explained as: 

1. She had limited childcare experience with the age of child she wanted to adopt. 
2. She had terminated a foster care placement, because she could not manage the 

child’s behaviour and the service could not be confident that she would be able to 
appropriately manage the complex needs of an adopted child, based on statements 
made during the visit.  

3. There was a lack of clarity about the individual’s financial position. 
 
2.5  The individual informally disputed this decision and subsequently made a formal complaint 

in October 2019, on the basis that she did not agree with the grounds for this decision. 
She also involved her MP.  Her complaint was not upheld in stage one.  

2.6  The individual was unable to accept the outcome of the complaint investigation and with a 
view to reaching a resolution, Mark Tobin, Head of Service, met with her in November 
2019 and explained the factors that led to the decision. In addition, she was given advice 
and information about steps to take with a view to strengthening her capacity to adopt, with 
a view to making a future enquiry. She was also provided with signposting information 
about approaching other adoption agencies. The individual appeared to be more accepting 
of the decision at the conclusion of the meeting.  

2.7 The individual subsequently progressed her complaint further and a stage two 
investigation was undertaken. This also upheld the original decision, although it identified 
delays in the agency communicating the decision, for which an apology was given to the 
individual.  

Page 14



 This report is PUBLIC  
 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
  

 

 

2.8  The individual indicated that she still wished to pursue the matter further and consequently 
it was referred to the Local Government Ombudsman. The LGSCO investigation draft 
report was provided to City of Wolverhampton Council on 10 November 2020.  

2.9  The LGSCO found that there had been fault on the part of the Council for undertaking 
initial assessment work with the individual prior to inviting her to formally register her 
interest to adopt. In addition, it was also concluded by the LGSCO that the complainant 
had lost the opportunity to discuss her interest to adopt within the statutory guidance (as 
below) and believed the assessment had been pre-determined.  

“An agency should respond impartially to requests for information and provide this within 
ten working days through an information session, a visit, pre-planned telephone call or 
similar arrangement with the potential adopter” (Department of Education’s 2013 statutory 
guidance on adoption). 

LGSCO:  

“The adoption agency visited the individual in May 2019. This should have been an 
impartial visit to share information with the individual about adoption, instead, the Council 
used this visit to assess the individual as a potential adopter, this was a fault. The agency 
should not have undertaken an assessment until an individual formally registered her 
interest with the adoption agency”. 

2.10  The LGSCO also concluded (as below) that there were no concerns about the decision not 
to progress the individual into Stage One of the process or the reasons for that decision. It 
was the timing of this decision (prior to Registration of Interest) that the finding related.  It 
should be noted that this was not the subject of her complaint.  

“I am satisfied the assessment completed by the adoption agency was robust. I consider 
its decision not to continue to engage the individual in the adoption process was one it was 
entitled to make and therefore I will not question its merits”. 

2.11 The Council responded to the LGSCO advising: 

“Common practice across the adoption sector is not to allow someone to access the 
adoption assessment process if it is believed the person has significant vulnerabilities and 
little or no chance of a child being placed with them. It explained, this would be poor use of 
resources and would mislead the individual who had enquired about adoption. More 
significantly, in order to effectively meet the needs of children in need of adoptive families 
the adoption agency must focus its resources strategically in assessing those individuals 
most likely to become approved adopters. The regional adoption agency’s practice reflects 
best practice in the sector”.  

2.12 Following the draft finding, the Head of Service for the regional adoption agency had 
positive engagement with the Department for Education (DfE) regarding the discrepancy 
between practice in the sector and the wording of the statutory guidance. Following further 
discussion with lead managers and key stakeholders in the sector, the DfE gave 
consideration to a review of the statutory guidance in relation to this point however in 
March 2021 they advised that this was not the right time to approach ministers regarding 
such a review taking place.  

Page 15



 This report is PUBLIC  
 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
  

 

 

 

3.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc. 

3.1 The LGSCO issued their final report on 4 June 2021. The original finding of fault as set out 
above is retained in this however the remedies and recommendations below set out by the 
LGSCO are different: 

“The Council should review its adoption recruitment procedure to ensure it adheres to the 
Department of Education’s 2013 statutory guidance on adoption”.  

  
“The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months, the action it has 
taken or proposes to take. The Council must consider the report at its full Council or 
Cabinet and we will require evidence of this”.  

 
3.2 The adoption agency has already amended its procedure and the information on its 

website in line and will provide this evidence to the LGSCO.  
 
3.3 It should be noted that six out of seven of the required remedies outlined in their report of 

January 2021 were not included in the final report, following the lengthy correspondence 
and legal advice taken by the Council. In particular the LGSCO removed the requirement 
to allow the individual to register her interest or audit its contacts over a twelve month 
period and write to those individuals. This significant change of approach from the LGSCO 
would appear to be in response to a challenge from the Council as to why, given no fault 
was found with the basis of the decision not to progress the individual, it was required to 
audit previous decisions.  

3.4 The LGSCO also stated in their final report: 

“The Council was at fault for not having due regard to the Department for Education’s 2013 
statutory guidance on adoption. The Council maintains its approach reflected best practice 
and is replicated nationwide. However, the Department for Education confirmed the 
statutory guidance will not be amended and the Council has since altered its practice”. 

“There was a significant difference between what the guidance said should happen when a 
potential adopter wishes to register their interest and what happened in this Council, and 
potentially nationwide. That is an untenable situation and reinforces why it is appropriate to 
issue a report in this case. There is an anomaly between the guidance and practice, which 
needs to be addressed”. 

3.5   On the basis of these findings the LGSCO also stated its intention to issue a Public Interest 
Report in relation to its findings.  

4.0  The Council’s Proposed Response to the Final Report 

4.1 In relation to the decision to issue a Public Interest Report, to comply with Section 30 of 
the 1974 Act, the Council placed two notices in local newspapers within two weeks of the 
Ombudsman publishing the report on 8 July 2021. It also arranged for copies of the report 
to be made available free of charge to interested persons on request, via the Council’s 

Page 16



 This report is PUBLIC  
 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
  

 

 

website or by contacting the complaints team.  Due to the current pandemic, paper copies 
of the report are not be available at Council offices.  

4.2 The LGSCO also published information about the finding on their website. Media interest 
has been very minimal and local.  

4.3 The Council accepts that although there is substantial evidence that it’s practice was 
consistent with common and best practice in the sector,  it should have been made clear to 
the complainant that she was entitled within the statutory guidance to submit a 
Registration of Interest to the agency, albeit, the outcome of this process would not have 
been any different. The LGSCO had also accepted that grounds upon which the 
complainant was declined were justifiable.  

4.4 The regional adoption agency/CWC, following legal advice has made a change to its 
recruitment process relating to the early (pre Stage One) enquiry and information stage 
as outlined in option one below.   

4.5 Evidence of these recommendations will be provided to the LGSCO within the required 
three month timescale.    

 
5.0 Evaluation of alternative options 

5.1 Option One – The service continues to practice with the change below 

5.2 Initial conversations take place with potential applicants with a view to providing them 
with information and giving them an opportunity to discuss their circumstances and any 
issues that may be likely to affect their suitability to adopt. 

5.3 Guidance and information is offered on the likely impact of any potential vulnerabilities in 
relation to the timing of their decision to start the adoption process.  

5.4 All potential applicants are offered the opportunity to submit a Registration of Interest 
(ROI). The agency has five working days within which to decide about whether to 
progress any potential applicant from the point of receiving the ROI.  

5.5 Option Two – The service provides every potential applicant with the opportunity to 
formally Register their Interest after attending an information event and does not undertake 
any initial conversations or offer guidance to potential applicants about their circumstances 
and potential strengths or vulnerabilities within their application.  

   
6.0 Reasons for decision(s)  

6.1  It is proposed that the response is based on option one for the reasons outlined above.  

6.2 The regional adoption agency service aims to focus its resources strategically by 
prioritising social worker and other staff time in assessing and approving those applicants 
who are most likely to meet the needs of the children within the region in need of adoptive 
families. Option one enables to the service to offer full information and guidance at an 
early stage. This is considered common and best practice in the sector and the majority of 
people interested in adopting will work with the information and guidance provided by the 

Page 17



 This report is PUBLIC  
 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
  

 

 

agency and not submit a Registration of Interest if the information about their 
circumstances suggests there may be vulnerabilities in their application. 

6.3 Option two would require potential applicants to submit a formal application and provide a 
significant amount of personal information. This is likely to raise expectations and lead to 
disappointment where, due to the lack of prior guidance and discussion about their 
circumstances, the agency decides (within the five working days allowed) to make a 
decision not to progress their application to Stage One of the process. It would also create 
pressures on staff time and resources and reduce the ability of the service to target its 
resources towards those potential applicants most likely to meet the needs of children. 

7.0  Financial implications 

7.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Council as a result of the 
recommendations of this report. The activity of the regional adoption agency will continue 
to be met from existing budgets, which are funded by the four partner organisations.  
[JB/23082021/D] 

 

8.0 Legal implications 

8.1 Advice was taken from legal colleagues as well as a QC and this indicated that option one 
is compliant with the statutory guidance on the basis that all potential applicants are 
offered the opportunity to submit a Registration of Interest to adopt.    
[TC/18082021Y] 

 
9.0  Equalities implications 

9.1  The proposal that the service continues to undertake initial conversations with potential 

applicants will enable early information to be obtained about their potential suitability to 

adopt. The outcome of this will support the potential applicant to make decisions about the 

timing of their application and will enable the service to strategically manage resources 

and meet the needs of children. It is not the case that the service will be more likely to rule 

out any potential applicants on grounds of their gender, ethnicity, sexuality, disability or 

marital status, as a result of this practice. All potential applicants retain their right to submit 

a Registration of Interest, regardless of the guidance or information provided to them at 

this early stage.   This practice is compliant with the Department of Education’s 2013 

statutory guidance on adoption.  

9.2 In considering the LGSCO finding, wide discussions on practice have taken place with key 

stakeholders in the adoption sector. Leaders from both Regional Adoption Agencies 

(RAA’s) and the voluntary sector attended a work stream meeting in January 2021, at 

which this practice was fully discussed and it was agreed that best and most common 

practice in the sector is to engage with potential applicants in this way.  CoramBAAF 

Adoption and Fostering Academy were also in attendance at these meetings.  

9.3  In addition, a consultation exercise with adoptive parents, which was facilitated by 

Adoption UK, Adopters were asked:  

Page 18



 This report is PUBLIC  
 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
  

 

 

“Do you think agencies in providing you with this information about the children, along with 

initial information, provided by you about your circumstances and suitability, should make 

early decisions about which potential adopters they take forward, with a view to targeting 

their resources on those people wishing to adopt, who are most likely to meet the needs of 

children waiting?”. 

154 adopters responded to the survey.  Seventy percent said “Yes” to this question and 

Thirty percent “No”. Therefore, the majority agree with this practice.  

 
10.0 All other implications 

10.1 There are no other known implications that require consideration. 
 
11.0 Schedule of background papers 

11.1 There are no background papers. 

 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

 

 

Cabinet 
8 September 2021 

 

Report title Severn Trent Water’s Commonwealth 
Legacy Forest 

 Decision designation AMBER 

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Steve Evans 
City Environment and Climate Change 

Key decision Yes 

In forward plan Yes 

Wards affected All Wards 

Accountable Director Ross Cook, Director of City Housing and Environment 

Originating service Planning 

Accountable employee Ric Bravery Strategic Health Lead 
Tel 07773 189238 
Email ric.bravery@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 
Report to be/has been 
considered by 
 

City Environment & Housing 
Leadership Team 
City Environment and 
Climate Change Cabinet 
Member briefing 
 

6 July 2021 
 
27 August 2021 

Recommendations for decision: 

The Cabinet is recommended to: 

1. Approve the Council supporting the principle of the Severn Trent Commonwealth Legacy 

Forest and proposing sites for both the Legacy Forest and Tiny Forests on land owned or 

managed by the Council. 

2. Delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for City Environment and Climate Change, in 

consultation with the Director of Governance, to sign any relevant agreements to enable 

planting to take place on the proposed sites, should they be accepted and the terms of 

planting be considered acceptable to the Council.  

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item No: 6



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

Recommendation for noting: 

The Cabinet is asked to note: 

1. That this report seeks delegated authority in the case of sites being proposed and 

accepted but does not commit to Council to providing sites for the Commonwealth 

Legacy Forest or Tiny Forests, should sites not be identified and selected or should the 

terms of planting not be acceptable to the Council. 

  

Page 22



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek support for the principle of the Council supporting 

the Severn Trent Commonwealth Legacy Forest, including Tiny Forests, and delegated 

approval to enter into any relevant agreements, should proposed sites be accepted and 

the terms of planting be considered acceptable to the Council. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 Tree planting in the City supports the aims of both Wolverhampton’s Tree and Woodland 

Strategy, approved in January 2020, and Climate Emergency Declaration, July 2019. It 

also supports the aims of the Council’s Open Spaces Strategy and Action Plan, 2018.  

Trees provide a broad range of health, environmental and other benefits including 

helping to combat climate change. 

2.2 The Council’s tree planting programme has involved the planting of over 2,000 trees in 

the City, mainly in parks and open spaces, in the 2019/2020 and 2020/2021 planting 

seasons. This includes the first Tiny Forest in the Black Country, planted at Oak Street 

Open Space, Merridale, in March 2021. This was sponsored by the Council and the OVO 

Foundation (the charitable arm of OVO Energy) and developed in partnership with the 

environmental charity Earthwatch. 

2.3 Earthwatch have proved an excellent partner in planning, developing and managing the 

Tiny Forest. The first monitoring event took place on 14 July and they have made 

significant efforts to engage with local schools, despite the coronavirus pandemic. The 

Tiny Forest has involved a significant commitment for the Council, however, such as in 

liaising with Earthwatch, managing the volunteers in the Keeper Team which maintains 

the site and dealing with incidents of vandalism. 

2.4 The Council’s tree planting programme for 2021/2022 includes the planting of 10 

hectares of trees (around 20,000) in a number of open spaces across the City, funded by 

the Woodland Trust’s Emergency Tree Fund. The sites are being finalised but are likely 

to include Bee Lane Playing Fields, Bushbury Hill, East Park, Eastfield Park, Stowheath 

Lane Open Space, Taylor Road Open Space, Springvale Park and Woodcross Park.  

2.5 The programme for 2021/2022 also includes the planting of the Black Country’s second 

Tiny Forest at Moseley Road Open Space in Bilston.  This will be fund wholly by 

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, (Defra) and again delivered in 

partnership with Earthwatch. Other community tree planting initiatives are proposed 

along with planting of sites in Bilston North Ward by staff from Lloyds Banking Group, 

working with the Woodland Trust. 

2.6 The Council is also seeking to support the Queen’s Green Canopy to celebrate the 

Queen’s Platinum Jubilee in 2022 and has agreement from the Woodland Trust to badge 

the 10 hectares funded by their Emergency Tree Fund as part of this initiative. The 

Council is also promoting the three million free trees available to schools and community 

groups through the Queen’s Green Canopy initiative. 

Page 23



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

3.0 The Severn Trent Commonwealth Legacy Forest 

3.1 Severn Trent Water are sponsoring 2022 acres (818 hectares) of woodland across the 

Midlands as part of the sustainability legacy of the 2022 Commonwealth Games, to be 

planted over three planting seasons from 2021/2022 to 2023/2024 and to be known as 

the Severn Trent Legacy Forest.  

3.2 As part of the same initiative, Severn Trent are also looking to sponsor 72 Tiny Forests, 

one for every nation and territory taking part in the Commonwealth Games, around the 

urban West Midlands. They are planning to plant all of these in the 2021/2022 planting 

season, in partnership with Earthwatch, and to engage with schools and local 

communities. 

3.3 Discussions on details are taking place with Severn Trent and Earthwatch, over both the 

Legacy Forest and the Tiny Forests. Early indications are that Severn Trent are seeking 

sites of a minimum size of 20 acres (eight hectares) for the Legacy Forest, significantly 

larger than any which the Council is able to offer. Employees have, however, identified a 

number of smaller sites which could be available, subject to finalisation of those required 

for the Council’s Emergency Tree Fund planting. There are also details to be agreed over 

areas such as site surveys, the planning and maintenance of planting, the length of any 

agreements and the claiming of carbon credits.  

3.4 For the Tiny Forests there are further details to be resolved over community and school 

engagement in planting, looking after and monitoring the forests. Information has been 

sent to schools and community contacts seeking nominations for Tiny Forest sites, either 

within schools or on public open spaces. Responses are being considered and discussed 

both internally and with Earthwatch and Severn Trent. 

3.5 The principle of the Commonwealth Legacy Forest and Tiny Forests is supported by the 

Council’s Tree and Woodland Strategy, Climate Emergency Declaration and Open Space 

Strategy and Action Plan. It is therefore proposed that the Council supports the principle 

of the project and propose sites where they can be identified. 

3.6 Details of the terms and site selection process are still being discussed and there is no 

certainty that the City will have sites selected or that the Council would agree to the terms 

of any agreements. Given the tight timescales to start planting the Legacy Forest and 

plant all of the Tiny Forests in the 2021/2022 planting season, however, delegated 

authority is sought to agree sites and enter into agreements, should sites be proposed 

and accepted and the terms of planting be acceptable to the Council.   

4.0 Evaluation of alternative options 

4.1 Option 1 is to approve the report, support the initiative and seek to engage with Severn 

Trent and Earthwatch to identify sites. This will further the aims of the Council’s Tree and 

Woodland Strategy, Climate Emergency Declaration and Open Space Strategy and 

Action Plan. It will also promote community engagement in planting and maintaining the 

Page 24



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

forests, in particular the Tiny Forests, as well as supporting the wider benefits to the City 

of the Commonwealth Games. 

4.2 Option 2 is to do nothing. This will bring no benefit to the City, reduce wider engagement 

with the Commonwealth Games and will bring about possible reputational harm with 

existing and future partners and with the public. 

4.3 The recommendation is to follow Option 1. 

4.4 Information on the Council’s wider tree planting programme has been shared through the 

Council’s networks along with an invitation to put forward sites for Tiny Forests. This 

specific invitation has also been sent directly to schools. Community involvement in 

planting, maintaining and monitoring Tiny Forests is key to their success. 

5.0 Reasons for decision  

5.1 It is recommended that support for the principal of the Commonwealth Legacy Forest is 

given to complement the Council’s wider support for the Commonwealth Games and the 

benefits which they will bring to the City and region. Such support is also in line with the 

Council’s existing Tree and Woodland Strategy, Climate Emergency Declaration and 

Open Space Strategy and Action Plan. 

5.2  Planting of sites as part of the Commonwealth Legacy Forest, either the main forest or 

Tiny Forests, would further the aims of the Tree and Woodland Strategy, Climate 

Emergency Declaration and Open Space Strategy and Action Plan. This would include 

wider benefits of social inclusion and promoting public health, in addition to the direct 

environmental benefits such as tackling climate change and supporting biodiversity. Tiny 

Forests, with the aim of community involvement in planting, maintenance and monitoring, 

would have additional benefits. 

6.0 Financial implications 

6.1 Full details of what funding Severn Trent Water will provide are under discussion. It is, 

however, understood that they will fund planting of both the main Legacy Forest and the 

Tiny Forests plus maintenance of the Legacy Forest for a period of 35 years. It is also 

understood that they will support the Keeper Teams which will manage the Tiny Forests. 

6.2 The recommendation does not commit the Council to supporting the projects if the terms 

on offer are not considered acceptable. Those terms include the financial implications for 

the Council. Any financial implications for the Council which cannot be supported from 

within existing budgets will be the subject of further reports.  

[SB/23082021/R] 
 

7.0 Legal implications 

7.1 Details of what agreements will be required by Severn Trent Water are not available at 

present. It is understood that they are offering to maintain the Legacy Forest for 35 years, 

which would require an agreement for that length of time.  The recommendation does not 

Page 25



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

commit the Council to supporting the projects if the terms on offer are not considered 

acceptable. Those terms include the legal implications for the Council.   

[SZ/25082021/P] 

 

8.0 Equalities implications 

8.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. Any tree planting 

which may arise from this report will be enhance the local environment and benefit 

residents of the area in which they are planted in times of visual amenity, recreational 

value, urban cooling, access to nature and both physical and mental wellbeing. The 

opportunity to get involved in planting, maintaining and monitoring the Tiny Forests will 

also benefit the health and wellbeing of participants. This project will benefit most those 

who do not currently have access to woodland, including people with protected 

characteristics. Planting schemes will be designed so they do not restrict access to 

greenspace for those with disabilities or create unsafe environments for women or other 

vulnerable groups. 

9.0 All other implications 

9.1 Any tree planting arising from this report on land which is managed by the Council will 

take place on designated open spaces that are for the long-term health and wellbeing of 

the City’s residents. Other planting may take place in school or other grounds which are 

managed by the relevant organisation. There is likely to be a restriction placed on any 

site(s) where the tree planting might take place and consideration of the costs and 

benefits of such restrictions will be made when deciding whether to progress with any 

projects. 

9.2 Any tree planting arising from this report will provide a range of health, environmental and 

climate change benefits as indicated in the strategies referenced. 

 
10.0 Schedule of background papers 

10.1  Wolverhampton Tree and Woodland Strategy - Cabinet - 22 January 2020. 

10.2 https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/environment-and-climate/climate-change-and-

sustainability/climate-emergency-declaration - Council - July 2019 

10.3 https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pdf/Wolverhampton_OSSAP_Updat

e_June_2018.pdf – Cabinet - July 2018 

 

Page 26

https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=11852&Ver=4
https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/environment-and-climate/climate-change-and-sustainability/climate-emergency-declaration
https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/environment-and-climate/climate-change-and-sustainability/climate-emergency-declaration
https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pdf/Wolverhampton_OSSAP_Update_June_2018.pdf
https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pdf/Wolverhampton_OSSAP_Update_June_2018.pdf


This report is PUBLIC or  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

 

 

Cabinet 
8 September 2021 

 

Report title Revised Affordable Rents Policy for New 
Build Wolverhampton Council Housing 

 Decision designation AMBER 

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Bhupinder Gakhal 
City Assets and Housing 

Key decision Yes 

In forward plan Yes 

Wards affected All Wards 

Accountable Director Ross Cook, Director of City Housing and Environment 

Originating service City Housing and Environment   

Accountable employee   Michelle Garbett Housing Policy Officer 
Tel      01902 552954 
Email                             Michelle.garbett@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 
Report to be/has been 
considered by 
 

City Housing and Environment 
Leadership Team 
Cabinet Member Briefing  

 

  17 August 2021 
   
  25 August 2021 

Recommendations for decision: 

The Cabinet is recommended to: 

1. Approve that Social Rents are applied to new build council properties only when 

allocated to a returning tenant(s) who are displaced as a result of an approved council 

led regeneration programme. This is only applicable for new build properties built without 

using grant funding.  

2. Approve that Social Rent is charged on properties purchased through the Market to 

Affordable Housing Conversion Programme only when the property is allocated to an 

existing tenant(s) who is required to temporarily decant to assist in the progression of the 

approved council led regeneration programme.  

3. Approve delegated authority to the Cabinet Member for City Assets and Housing, in 

consultation with the Director for City Housing and Environment, to authorise future 

amendments to the City’s Affordable Rents Policy for new build council Housing. 

  

Page 27

Agenda Item No: 7



This report is PUBLIC or  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

1.0 Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for amendments to be made to the 

Council’s current Affordable Rents Policy in order to protect the Social Rents of existing 

secure Council tenants where they are being displaced as a result of Council 

regeneration schemes. 

1.2 It is further proposed to obtain approval for those Council tenants that have a wish to 

return to new build properties within the regeneration area and have been temporarily 

decanted to a property acquired through the Market to Affordable Housing Conversion 

programme, that a Social Rent is charged for the duration of the decant period.  

2.0 Background 

2.1 Affordable Rents fall within the definition of social housing in section 68 of the Housing 

and Regeneration Act 2008 (and, in particular, the definition of low-cost rental 

accommodation in section 69 of the same Act).  

2.2 The Affordable Homes Programme 2011-2015 introduced the use of Affordable Rents for 

social housing tenants.  Affordable Rents permit rents (inclusive of service charges) to be 

set at up to 80% of market rent. The rents for council owned affordable homes is capped 

at Local Authority Allowance (LHA) levels.  

2.3 The Affordable Homes Programme administered by Homes England (HE) provides the 

mechanism by which Social Housing Providers can access grant funding to support the 

capital costs of delivering new build housing for rent or market sale. A requirement of the 

funding granted is for rents to be charged at an Affordable Rent; however, where grant 

has not been used, Registered Providers (RP) including Local Authorities (LA) can 

choose to set rents at a Social Rent. 

2.4 In April 2016, the Council adopted an Affordable Rent Policy which agreed to set 

Affordable Rents for new build housing including conversions, renovations and 

acquisitions at 80% of the market rent, capped at LHA rates. This policy does not apply 

to existing stock and it is not proposed to make any changes to the policy in relation to 

this. The Council’s Housing Strategy ‘Better Homes for All’ supports the Council’s fourth 

strategic objective which sets out the Council’s commitment for all residents to have 

‘Access to a Secure Home’, live in a ‘Safe and Healthy Home’ as well as setting out an 

ambitious plan to provide ‘More and Better Homes’. To achieve this, stock condition 

surveys are undertaken to current Council owned stock to determine any future 

investment required and where this is no longer viable due to the age and/or structural 

condition of some stock, approval is gained to commence regeneration projects to re-

develop housing estates to deliver the objectives of the housing strategy. Where a 

regeneration project is approved, existing tenants may seek a permanent move or 

express their ‘Right to Return’ to the area once the new homes have been built. The 

current Affordable Rents Policy allows no flexibility to offer existing secure tenants 

affected by estate regeneration, a new property on their original estate at Social Rent.  

Page 28



This report is PUBLIC or  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

2.5 Where a privately owned property has been purchased through the approved Market to 

Affordable Housing Conversion Programme within regeneration areas, there is an 

opportunity to use the property as a temporary decant for existing secure tenants 

displaced by the regeneration programme.   

3.0 Proposals 

3.1 It is proposed that for Council regeneration schemes which result in the displacement of 

existing secure tenants whilst demolition and new build development takes place, those 

tenants who expressed the ‘Right to Return’ can return to properties and charged Social 

Rent. Any subsequent let will revert to an Affordable Rent where the incoming tenant was 

not displaced by the original redevelopment. 

3.2 It is further proposed that for the purpose of providing temporary homes to those existing 

tenants directly affected by the re-development of an estate, that any properties acquired 

and brought back into Council stock through the Market to Affordable Housing 

Conversion Programme will be used for temporary decant purposes and charged at a 

Social Rent. Any subsequent permanent let of these properties will revert to an 

Affordable Rent. 

3.3 This amendment to the Affordable Rents Policy will only apply to existing secure tenants 

directly affected by the re-development of their estate through an approved Council 

regeneration scheme. For existing tenants who seek a permanent move away from their 

existing estate and then subsequently apply to return to new build properties due to a 

change in their housing need; an Affordable Rent will be charged. 

4.0 Evaluation of alternative options 

4.1 Option 1- Make no change to the current Affordable Rents Policy, this ensures no 

negative impact to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and a consistent approach 

across all council new build development.  Rents in Wolverhampton are relatively low 

and there is little difference between Social and Affordable Rent, so the impact on the 

majority of tenants, should be insignificant. However current policy does not account for 

estate regeneration where existing council tenants have to leave their homes due to a 

need to demolish or carry out extensive works on an estate and neither does it allow the 

use of Social Rents when using homes purchased and brought back into the Council’s 

housing stock for temporary decant purposes.  

4.2 Option 2 - Amend the current policy and apply a Social Rent to all non-grant funded new 

build developments. This approach would bring the Council in line with the 

recommendations of the Black Country Tenancy Strategy but would have a greater 

impact on the HRA and could have a negative impact on the ability to pursue other much 

needed social housing development in the City. 

 

 

Page 29



This report is PUBLIC or  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

5.0 Reasons for decision(s)  

5.1 In updating the policy to include the planned proposal for Social Rents to be charged on 

council regeneration schemes and for those properties purchased via the Market to 

Affordable Housing Conversion Programme for use as temporary homes for those 

affected by regeneration; it will allow Social Rents to be charged within the parameters 

detailed within the report for existing tenants who wish to remain on their current estate 

during the regeneration programme or for those tenants who wish to return once the 

regeneration programme is completed. This will ensure existing tenants are able to 

remain within their established communities and retain local connections to that area.  

5.2 The policy also recognises that where the Council leads on a regeneration scheme that it 

should not be of detriment, in terms of rent charges, to existing tenants directly affected 

by the planned redevelopment. 

6.0 Financial implications 

6.1 Charging Affordable Rent levels on new build homes results in a higher rental income 

and enables the Council to apply for HE grant funding therefore providing more 

resources overall and increasing the number of new council homes that can be built. 

Regeneration schemes can be financed using a combination of grant funding for the 

affordable homes and right to buy one for one receipts for the social rent new build 

schemes for the existing tenants.  As the social rent properties become void they can be 

increased to affordable rent levels.    

[JM/17082021/R] 

                                                                              

7.0 Legal implications 

7.1 The relevant legislation and implications are set out in the body of the report.  

[TC/20082021/C] 

 

8.0 Equalities implications 

8.1      An equalities impact assessment has been undertaken which demonstrates the positive   

outcomes for existing Council tenants affected by the redevelopment of their existing 

homes. 

9.0 All other implications 

9.1 There are no further implications from the recommendations in this report. 

10.0 Schedule of background papers 

10.1 An Affordable Rent Policy for Wolverhampton Council Housing - Cabinet - 23 April 2014 

10.2 Affordable Rent Policy for all New Build Wolverhampton Council Housing – Individual 

Executive Decision Notice - 6 April 2016 

 

Page 30

https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=4059&Ver=4
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s23925/7%20Schedule%20of%20IEDNs.pdf

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Local Government Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) Report
	6 Severn Trent's Commonwealth Legacy Forest
	7 Revised Affordable Rents Policy for all New Build Wolverhampton Council Housing

